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Lay ministry: The management team of Linden H. Morehouse (at right),
Clifford P. Morehouse (center), and Harold C. Barlow (left), guides a
continent-spanning institution which celebrates its 75th anniversary this year.

SPECIAL REPORT: The Morehouse-Barlow Company
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THE SHEPHERD'S ARMS.

“I am the Good Shepherd.”——He s}u‘ﬂl gather:-tlw lambs with"His arm.”

Vor. II, No. 14, WEEKLY.
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THE PRETTIEST.

“I want your dolly, sis-
ter! Mine won’tsit in the

!chair; she fallsout! And

yours is the prettiest, too!”

hold of the big doll's dress
' with both her hands.
- Angry words came to sis-
' ter’s lips; but she did not
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at Madge a minute, and
then she said:

“Well, you may have

my dolly for a while if you |

want her se be

Y;as; but Gop looked

down and saw the sister’s

MoxNTHLY, }?c—x 9, VoL. VII '

| speak them. . She looked

The Living Church



TFCOPML AR
™ Jettromodg SERKS.

MOREHOUSE-BARLOW CO.

14 East 4lst Street New York 17, N.Y.
29 East Madison Street, Chicago 2, Ill. 261 Golden Gate Avenue, San Francisco 2, Calif.
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We Congratulate
Morehouse - Barlow Go.

INC.
on the event

of their

5th

Anniversary

o

Business Service Go.

Harrisburg, Pa.

Printers of

EPISCOPAL CHURCH
FELLOWSHIP SERIES

&y

We have a complete offset lithog-
raphy plant and specialize in.the
production of privately printed
editions of books. Complete
design, editorial, printing, - bind-
ing, warehousing and shipping

service.

The Living
CHURCH

Established 1878 Number 12

Voiume 139

A Weekly Record of the News, the Work,
and the Thought of the Episcopal Church.

STAFF
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McCracken, Paul B. Anderson, Th.D., Paul Rusch,
L.H.D., associate editors. Lila Thurber, assistant
editor. Warren J. Debus, business manager. Marie
Pfeifer, advertising manager. Roman Bahr, sub-
scription manager.

ADVERTISING REPRESENTATIVE

Allan E. Shubert Company, 3818 Chestnut St.,
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Miami Area: Dawson Co., 1206 Chamber of Com-
merce Bldg., Miami 32, Fla.; Los Angeles: 1350
N. Highland Ave.

THE CHURCH LITERATURE FOUNDATION

Rt. Rev. Donald H. V. Hallock,*t+ Bishop of
Milwaukee, president. Rt. Rev. Charles F.
Boynton,*+ Suffragan of New York, vice president.
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Rt. Rev. John S. Higgins,t Bishop of Rhode Island.
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SPECIAL REPORT
Company with a Cause

THINGS TO COME

September

20. Seventeenth Sunday after Trinity

21. St. Matthew

22. Convocation of American Churches in Europe,
annual convention, to 23d

27. Eighteenth Sunday after Trinity

29, St. Michael and All Angels

Peter Day 8

October

1. Installation of Bishop Lewis as coadjutor of
Olympia

4. Nineteenth Sunday after Trinity

7. North Carolina to elect coadjutor

National Day of Prayer

L11. Twentieth Sunday after Trinity

12. National Conference of Deaconesses, executive
committee meeting and annual retreat and
conference, to 15th

13. National Council Meeting, to 15th

17. House of Bishops Interim Meeting, Coopers-
town, N. Y., to 22d

NEWS. Over 100 correspondents, at least one in
each diocese and district, and a number in foreign
countr'es, are The Living Church’s chief source of
news. Although news may be sent directly to the
editorial office, no assurance can be given that such
material will be acknowledged, used, or returned.
PHOTOGRAPHS. The Living Church cannot as-
sume responsibility for the return of photographs.
THE LIVING CHURCH is a subscriber to Reli-
gious News Service and Ecumenical Press Service.
It is a member of the Associated Church Press.
THE LIVING CHURCH is published every week,
dated Sunday, by the Church Literature Founda-
tion, at 407 E. Michigan St., Milwaukee 2, Wis.
Entered as second-class matter February 6, 1900,
under the Act of Congress of March 3, 1879, at
the post office, Milwaukee, Wis.

SUBSCRIPTION RATES: $8.756 for one year;
$15.76 for two years; $21.00 for three years. For-
eign postage, $1.00 a year additional. Canadian
postage, 60¢ a year additional.

LETTERS

Living CHURCH readers communicate with
each other using their own names, not
initials or pseudonyms. They are also
asked to give address and title or occupa-
tion and to limit their letters to 300 words.
(Most letters are abridged by the editors.)

City Colloquy

Your cover picture [L. C., August 30th] was
obviously incomplete. It was apparent that
St. Paul, in precess of involuntary transla-
tion, and Dean Rose, observing from the side-
. walk, were engaged in some kind of colloquy,
and that the Apostle was pretty annoyed
about the whole thing. This led me to
search the Scriptures, and I believe I have
managed to reconstruct the dialogue, though
it is cleverly hidden in two different books,

as follows [see revised cut]:

I Journegings often . o o
ir periie in the oity .

Paul, “heu art beside Lhy-
self; »meh learnisg doth ™

make thes mads .
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L.C. cover cut, revised

Paul (muttering): “In journeyings oft . . .
in perils in the city . . . (II Cor. 11:26)
Dean Rose: “Paul, thou art beside thyself;
much learning doth make thee mad.” (Acts
26:24) Yours in the Lower Criticism,
CLIFFORD P. MOREHOUSE
Katonah, N. Y.

40 & 8

Your news story about the American Le-
gion convention in Minneapolis and the
40 & 8 Society [L. C., September 6th] is some-
what misleading. In the first place, the reso-
lution was out of order because the American
Legion can no more legislate for the 40 & 8
than can the Episcopal Church legislate for
the Lutheran Church. The internal organi-
zations of the veteran groups are completely
separate.

In the second place, under our American
way of life, we have the right of free associa-
tion. We are free to create associations and
to establish qualifications for membership.
The American Legion has countless related
organizations which are not open to all mem-
bers but only to those with specific qualifica-
tions. This flows from our right of free
association. For example, in Pennsylvania, we
have our Department Chaplains’ Association.

Continued on page 6
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For the discerning—
the perfection of
British Craftsmanship

/D,_h

The famous “DIADEM’’ ware is supplied throughout
the United States by the MOREHOUSE-BARLOW COM-
PANY under a special arrangement which bas prevailed for

several years,

The London firm of Blunt & Wray take a just pride in the excellence of their reputa-
tion as Silversmiths and Ecclesiastical Metal-workers. In this field the high standard
of British craftsmanship has never been surpassed.

The picture above shows two of the company’s senior craftsmen at work on the im-
pressive bronze altar set for Washington Cathedral, erected and dedicated in memory
of Bishop Perry in October 1956, and commissioned by the Cathedral direct with

Blunt & Wray.

The beautiful Altar Cross was designed by the Cathedral’s architect, Mr. Philip
Frohman, the vases and candlesticks by Mr. J. Francis Coote, M.V.O., of Blunt & Wray,
and carried out in the firm’s workshops in London. Measuring five feet seven inches
high the Cross was fabricated in several sections. The gilt was applied by a mediaeval
process of fire-gilding, by which gold actually fuses with the body metal and forms
what is still the most permanent form of gilding.

Whether engaged on work of some magnitude or fashioning altar furniture for a small
Church, Blunt & Wray craftsmanship never varies in quality or careful finish. Every
piece bears the DIADEM CRAFT mark which is, at the same time, a brand of excel-
lence and your protection against faulty workmanship. Every article bearing the
DIADEM stamp is guaranteed for one year.

BLUNT & WRAY

Makers of the famous

“DIADEM” Craft
Ecclesiastical Silver
and Metalwork,

BLUNT & WRAY = LONDON + ENGLAND
September 20, 1959

Above:

THE
DORCHESTER
CHALICE
in Sterling Siiver

Lefr:
ALTAR DESK
in Brass,
Polished & lacquered

No. 605



Gongratu/ations

on the

Diamond Jubilee

of

MOREHOUSE-GORHAM

and

to the

Successful Future

of

MOREHOUSE-BARLOW

from

THE SUPREME
PRINTING SERVICE

130 W. 46th St.
New York 36, N. Y.

I can definitely assure you that we will not
admit a Jehovah Witness to membership.
Such may seem unfair until you realize that

we have the right of free association.
Veterans who cannot qualify for 40 & 8
membership are free to organize themselves
into their own American Legion related asso-
ciation. (Rev.) JosErH WITTKOFSKI
Rector, St. Mary’s Church
Grand Aumonier Passe, 40 & 8, and
Past Department Chaplain,
the American Legion,
Department of Pennsylvania

Charleroi, Pa.

Birthdays

The latest mail from the National Council
brings some beautifully printed, and gener-
ally well-gotten-up, material on the Birthday
Thank Offering.

Twenty years have passed since I was grad-
uated from seminary, but back in the old
days they taught us that our Lord was with
His Church during His Earthly Life — now
“281” tells us that this is all wrong. They
now tell us: “Whitsunday, the birthday of
the Church.”

Some years ago Presiding Bishop Tucker
described Whitsunday as the day on which we
celebrate “the coming of age of the Church.”

They also tell us: “There are two ways of
coming into a family: being born and being
adopted. We are all part of God’s family
which is the Church. We were adopted into
this family when we were baptized.”

It seems to me that maybe St. Paul says
something about “adopted” — Tl have to
look — and if he does, I'll have to continue
in my confusion. But the office for the min-
istration of Holy Baptism in the Prayer Book
leaves me in no doubt at all. The language
and contekt speaks clearly of being “born
again.” (Rev.) AUBREY C. MAXTED

Priest-in-charge, St. Simon’s Church
Houston, Texas

Protestant Anglicans

Anent perplexity of the Rev. A. T. B. Haines
expressed in his letter [L.C., August 2nd]
as to why the American Church called itself
“the Protestant Episcopal Church,” and his
gentle suggestion: “Perhaps General Conven-
tion might consider the advisability of elim-
inating this word which causes misunder-
standing and is a stumbling block to the mis-
informed especially in missionary areas.”
(Italics mine.)

We know, of course, that in General Con-
vention after General Convention effort after
effort has been made to delete this anomalous
and contradictory part of the Church’s title,
and without success. Inquiry made of depu-
ties to the 1958 Convention as to failure
there brought only odd, vague sounds which
seemed to say that “Protestant” was retained
because missionary districts felt removal would
hamper work in those areas. How confusing!

Perhaps Mr. Haines, rector of All Saints’
Church, Gordonsvale, Queensland, Australia,
would lend a hand by starting a movement
aimed at the removal of the word “Protes-
tant” from the English Coronation Oath.

The about-to-be-crowned Monarch is asked
by the Archbishop of Canterbury:

“Will you to the utmost of your power
maintain in the United Kingdom the Protes-
tant Reformed Religion established by law?"

(Rev.) PALMER CAMPBELL
Staftord, Va.

BOOKS

No Small Feat

OUR CHRISTIAN HERITAGE. Church
History and the Episcopal Church. By
Powel Mills Dawley. Morehouse-Barlow
[Morehouse-Gorham]. Pp. 240. Paper,
$2.30.

OUR CHRISTIAN HERITAGE. Church
History and the Episcopal Church. The
Teacher’s Guide. By Dora P. Chaplin.
Morehouse-Barlow [Morehouse-Gor-
ham]. Pp. 111. Paper, $2.

Not the least important of the services
which Morehouse-Barlow Company (for-
merly Morehouse-Gorham), now celebrat-
ing its 75th anniversary, has rendered to
the Episcopal Church is the publication
of Sunday school and religious education
material. A recent addition in this field
is Course H - 1, “Our Christian Heritage,”
designed primarily for ages 15 - 18.

Materials for “Our Christian Heritage”
consist of a student’s book and a teacher’s
book, both under the same title as the
course,

To condense the highlights of Church
History into the brief compass of 200
pages is no smdil feat, but a task which
Powel Mills Dawley, in the student’s book,
accomplishes with remarkable facility.
Though intended primarily for teenagers,
the book can be recommended to adults
who want a very brief introduction to
what is a very wide field. They can then
go on to some of the works mentioned
in the excellent bibliographies which Dr.
Dawley gives at the end.

Accompanying Dr. Dawley’s work is a
teacher’s guide by Dora P. Chaplin. This
contains numerous suggestions by one
long experienced in the work of religious
education for those who are to use Dr.
Dawley’s book as a text with classes and
discussion groups.

Francis C. LIGHTBOURN

PARENTS AND PRIESTS AS SERVANTS
OF REDEMPTION. By Athenagoras Kok-
kinakis. Morehouse-Barlow [Morehouse-
Gorham], 1958. Pp. 178. $4.

’I;is short work by the Bishop of the
Boston diocese of the Greek Orthodox
Church is a welcome addition to the grow-
ing body of literature in English dealing
with the faith and practice of the Ortho-
dox Church. The volume consists of two
separate essays: the first on Christian mar-
riage and the other on priesthood (Holy
Orders). If justification: is needed for
treating these two subjects together the
author gives it in his introduction:

“It is doubtful if our participation in
the mission of Christ finds in any other

The Living Church



field a more complete and practical and |

satisfying realization than in the fields |

of Christian parenthood and priesthood”
(p- 18).

‘... the sacraments of Matrimony and
Priesthood may be seen as the twofold
field that brings forth the servants of our
Redemption” (p. 21).

Bishop Athenagoras makes the point
again and again that Christian marriage
is no fortuitous union between the sexes
but a sacrament: “the spiritual bond, the
work of the Holy Spirit. . .” (p. 35). The
reader will be especially interested in the
sections dealing with: “birth control,”
“mixed marriages,” and “divorce and re-
marriage.” Planned parenthood and birth
control are condemned forthwith. Mixed
marriages, between Orthodox and non-
Orthodox Christians, are permitted but
not advised.

The point of departure for the Ortho-
dox position regarding the priesthood is
summarized on page 105:

e

. . the sacrament of the Priesthood
may be examined both in reference to all
the faithful people, that is, the members
of the Body of Christ as an all-inclusive
racred fellowship of set-aside persons . . .
and secondly, in relation to the hierarchy
as a set-aside fellowship of charismatics in
the service of Christ. . . .”

Some of the simplified historical recon-
structions dealing with the development
of the ministry will send chills down the
spines of the historical critics. Anglican
readers will be annoyed at being classed
among the Protestant groups, and they
will perhaps be exasperated at the halting
attitude towards the validity of their ordi-
nations: ‘““‘Anglican priesthood is consid-
ered by the Orthodox only by dispensa-
tion . . . or only partially valid” (page
152).

In approaching the section on priest-
hood the reader should be warned about
the shift in terminology — “diakonia” is
synonymous with “ministry” and can
refer to any “minister” from acolyte to
bishop; “priesthood” is identical with the
familiar Anglican use of “Holy Orders”
and is used in referring to the diaconate,
the presbyterate, and the episcopate. Of
special interest is the discussion of the
priesthood of the Orthodox laity (Chapter
XXi).

This book was written primarily for
Orthodox Sunday school teachers as a
ready reference for an authoritative state-
ment of the Orthodox position on matri-
mony and priesthood. However, it should
gain a wide circle of readers from among
non-Orthodox Christians. For those clergy
and laity engaged in discussions with Or-
thodox Churchmen this book is a neces-
sity for a well-rounded and forthright con-
temporary treatment of the “two sacra-
ments which bring forth the servants of
our Redemption.”

Joserr A. HoweLL

September 20, 1959
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Blaise Pascal
THE LirE Anp WoORK OF A REALIST

By ERNEST MORTIMER. “A luminous and informed
biography . . . fully aware of his subject’s remarkable
powers, which seem to have burst upon the world almost
without visible development.” Loren ErseLEy, New
York Herald Tribune. $4.00

Science, Medicine
and Morals .
By CHARLES E. RAVEN. A brilliant survey of the

interaction of scientific and religious thought from the
Greeks to modern times, and a challenging statement of
the new responsibilities of science and medicine in the
world today. “Distills the rich experience of a long life
lived equally among men of science and theologians.”

— Times (London) Literary Supplemeni. $3.50

Sexual Relation
in Christian Thought

By DERRICK SHERWIN BAILEY. “An extremely
good book in the breadth of his understanding between
men and women, and the way in which he roots that rela-
tionship in our creation . . . I do not know where we could
find another Anglican book which can compare with this,

in its inclusiveness.” — RT. REv. STEPHEN F. BAYN;, ]SR.
4.50

The Ladder of Divine Ascent

By ST. JOHN CLIMACUS. Translated by ARCHI-
MANDRITE LAZARUS MOORE. Introduction by M.
HEPPELL. This newest volume in the widely-praised
Classics of the Contemplative Life series gives vivid illus-
trations of the thirty rungs of the “Ladder” by which
spiritual perfection is reached. “One of the major classic*
of Christian spirituality.”—GEORGES FLOROVSKY, Harvard
Divinity School.

The Mind of St. Paul

By WILLIAM BARCLAY. “William Barclay has

. with an amazing gift for vivid and arresting
writing . . . His MIND oF St. PAUL is a fascinating experi-

ence to read.”” — Havrrorp E. Luccock. $3.50
At your bookseller 6@ HARPER & BROTHERS, N.Y. 16
7



Linden H. Morehouse I: His decision
in 1884 resulted in a two million
dollar annval business in Church
books and supplies, part of which
is indicated by this collection of
Morehouse-Barlow liturgical ware.

MOREHOUSE-BARLOW—
Company with a Cause

by Peter Day

The biggest business
serving the Church today

is still dedicated S eventy-five years ago, an enthusiastic layman of the Episcopal
to the Christi Church in Milwaukee, Wis,, decided to give up his secular business

2 HELTe 1 and devote his life to the full time service of the Church. His name
was Linden H. Morehouse, and the decision he made in 1884 has

service which ; :
resulted in the Church enterprise known today as the Morehouse-

motivated its founders Barlow Co. Inc, a stock corporation which will probably sell over
two million dollars worth of books, Church school materials, supplies,
75 years ago Church appointments, vestments, and other necessaries — all in all

8 The Living Church



Linden H. Moreh

} and Harold C.
Barlow (treasurer): One old name and one new

I (pr

in a successful business and lay ministry.
some 10,000 different items — to Epis-
copalians in the current fiscal year.

By far the largest business enterprise
serving the Episcopal Church, the More-
house-Barlow Company has played a sig-
nificant role in its 75 years of service in
almost every area of the Church’s life —
in personal and sacramental devotion, in
evangelism, in liturgical reform and en-
richment, in scholarly inquiry, in Church
legislation, and perhaps most of all in the
life of the Sunday school. It has carried
the lay ministry of its founder to heights
of which he probably hardly dared to
dream when he gave up his partnership in
Morehouse, Meachem, & Co., commission
merchants, and opened a small bookstore
and publishing house at 434 Milwaukee
St., under the name of the Young Church-
man Company.

The first Linden H. Morehouse (his
grandson, the present president of the
company, is his namesake) was a convert
to the Episcopal Church. His father, An-
drew, the pioneer of the family, has been
described as “a rather blustering old gen-
tleman who had no use for religion of
any kind.” But Linden, born in Fremont,
Ohio, January 24, 1842, before the family
moved to Milwaukee, married a clergy-
man’s daughter, Lydia Phelps, on August
31, 1864. Her father, Alanson Phelps, a
graduate of the Virginia seminary, was
the rector of the Episcopal church in
Fremont. This first contact of Linden
with the Church promptly led to a kind of
vigorous Churchmanship that must have
amazed the Virginia-trained priest and
his daughter.

In the 1860s and 70s, the Church was
at the height of the “ritualistic warfare”
that had resulted from the growth of the
Catholic movement and the opposition to
it of the low Church group. General Con-
vention adopted a canon against adora-

September 20, 1959

tion of the Eucharistic elements, bishops
fulminated against processional crosses
and altar candles, known ‘“ritualists” were
turned down by the standing committees
after election to the episcopate, and a
flood of pamphlets and periodicals of both
parties gave voice to bitter differences be-
tween Churchmen.

Linden Morehouse quickly found him-
self at home in the zealous camp of those
who were crusading to express the Cath-
olicity of the Church. While still in his
20s, he became the Sunday school super-
intendent of the struggling All Saints’
Church, Milwaukee, Wis., which the bish-
ops of the diocese were trying to develop
into a cathedral against the opposition of
the powerful city parishes.

Not finding adequate materials in exist-
ence to nurture the children in the riches
of their Anglican heritage, the young com-
mission merchant started in 1870 a Sun-
day school magazine of his own, the
Young Churchman. It was not long before
other parishes heard of the magazine and
asked to be put on its mailing list.

“Once a month, and later once a week, the
dining room table at the Morehouse home re-
ceived the pile of printed papers, which
were accounted, addressed, and mailed by all
the members of the family. It was probably
about 1880 that the dining room table as
paraphernalia of the mailing room was out-
grown, and a rear end of the commission
house was partitioned off for the periodicals.
[A magazine for the younger children, the
Shepherd’s Arms, had been established in
1877.] By 1884 even this makeshift was inade-
quate, and the Young Churchman Company
was formed and incorporated.”*

By 1884, All Saints’ Cathedral had won
acceptance as the cathedral church of the
diocese, and under the Very Rev. Erastus
Spalding, dean, had become one of the
great centers of liturgical enrichment,
piety, and vigorous lay activity of the
nation. The Church life found by the
Morehouses at the altar of All Saints’
Cathedral continued for many years to
play a vital part in the history of the
company.

In token of the Churchly character -of
his new enterprise, Mr. Morehouse asked
Bishop Welles of Milwaukee (grandfather
of the present Bishop of West Missouri)
and Bishop Brown of Fond du Lac to join
with him as original incorporators. No
record seems to exist as to how much of
the original $10,000 of capital stock each
bishop held or when and how they relin-
quished it. However, Bishop Welles was
the first president, Bishop Brown the vice
president, and Linden Morehouse was sec-
retary-treasurer and general manager.t

*Stevens, W. B., Editor's Quest, a Memoir of
Frederic Cook Morehouse, Morehouse-Gorham, 1940,
p. 21.

tThe date of incorporation was August 27, 1884,
but a technical error in the papers required re-
filing, so that the lezal date of incorporation was
January 12, 1885. An announcement that the book
store would open in October was published in THE
LiviNe CHURCH of September 27, 1884, but the first
sign that the store actually had opened is an
advertising announcement in THE LivING CHURCH
of February 7, 1886.

Bishop Welles was able to bring to fru-
ition some of the most cherished projects
of his predecessor, Bishop Armitage, with
the incorporation of All Saints’ as the first
American cathedral organized under dioc-
esan statutes (1882) and the setting apart
of the diocese of Fond du Lac (1874). An
editorial in THE Livine CHURCH some
years later said the two bishops agreed to
sponsor the Young Churchman Company
because “‘every paper and every pamphlet
that came from the Young Churchman
Company presses was to them a separate
and distinct advance in Churchly work.”

“It’s the first certificate of stock I have
ever seen with a cross printed on it,” said
Bishop Brown when his certificate: was
sent to him. A few years earlier, the rec-
tor of St. Paul's Church, Milwaukee, had
been given a stole on which crosses were
embroidered. He wore it wrong side out
for many months in order not to disturb
the consciences of members of his congre-
gation.

The certificates of the 36 common and
190 preferred. stockholders in the present
day are no longer decorated with a cross;
but the present generation, like the three
original stockholders, l1ooks to every prod-
uct of the Morehouse-Barlow Company
as “a separate and distinct advance in
Churchly work.”

For Each Convention

In 1886, two years after the founding
of the company, Linden H. Morehouse
took his seat at General Convention for
the first time as a deputy from the diocese
of “Wisconsin,” just as it was changing its
name to the diocese of Milwaukee. From
that time to the present, a Morehouse has
been elected by his diocese to General
Convention without interruption. Linden
Morehouse served from 1886 through 1904,
being the deputation’s senior lay member
(i.e., the one with the highest number of
votes) every year except the first. Reélected
in 1907, he was unable to attend, and
thereafter until his death in 1915 refused
to allow his name to be put up. In 1910,
his son, Frederic Cook Morehouse took
his place and served as senior deputy
from Milwaukee to seven successive Gen-
eral Conventions. He was elected again
in 1931, but was prevented by illness from
attending. After his death in 1932, his
son, Clifford P. Morehouse, present vice
president of the company, was elected a
deputy to the Convention of 1934 and has
served continuously up to the present.

This remarkable record of continuous
esteem and affection indicates what the
contemporaries of each Morehouse gener-
ation have thought of the men who sup-
plied them with books, Sunday school
materials, and other necessaries of Church
life. The cathedral from which they drew
their spiritual sustenance is widely knewn

“for its pioneering in the ‘“externals” of
the Catholic movement — colored vest-
ments, incense, sanctus bells, and the like.
Not quite so well known, perhaps, is the
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intensity of its concern in other areas —
in personal piety, in doctrine and theol-
ogy, in missionary fervor, in Christian
social service.

At the time that a cathedral layman
was founding the Young Churchman Com-
pany and publishing two national Sunday
school magazines, the cathedral clergy
were conducting services in ten places, in-
cluding several neighboring small towns,
the soldiers’ home, the county poor-house,
the county hospital, and the local jail.
Linden Morehouse was not only Sunday
school superintendent but treasurer of the
cathedral and a member of the diocesan
standing committee.

Magnificent Side-Whiskers

An engraving of Linden Morehouse
in his later years shows a genial gentle-
.man with magnificent side-whiskers and a
shrewd, appraising look about the eyes
[see p. 8]. In Convention he did not play
the active role for which his son and
grandson later became famous. “He rare-
ly spoke” on the floor of the House of
Deputies, according to an account in THE
Livinc CHURCH at the time of his death,
and the first resolution he introduced was
in his third term, in 1892. The resolution:

“Resolved, that the words ‘Protestant
Episcopal’ be omitted from the title-page
of the Standard Prayer Book.” It was
tabled on a vote by orders. Only once
more does Mr. Morehouse’s name ap-
pear in the index of the General Con-
vention Journal, and again on the same
subject. In 1901, he presented a memorial
from the diocese of Milwaukee asking that
the name of the Church be changed to
“the American Catholic: Church in the
United States.”

To Linden Morehouse, the Young
Churchman was and remained ‘“his own
particular child.” For 44 years, although
the company took on various other pub-
lications and kept enlarging its list of
books, every number of the children’s
weekly was issued under his personal edi-
torship, and it was only when his health
began to fail in 1914 that he let it be
placed in other hands. Its circulation was
about 50,000 copies per week.

It was not until 1918, three years after
his death, that the name of the company
was changed to ‘“Morehouse Publishing
Company,” as a perpetual memorial to the
founder and a more fitting style for its
varied services. The Young Churchman
continued publication until 1931. During
the 1920s, an arrangement was entered
into with the National Council whereby
the first issue of each month was desig-
nated the Missionary Magazine and was
edited.. from Church headquarters. In
1931, when Frederic Cook Morehouse’s
poor health had forced him to turn the
managemerit of the company over to the
third generation, both the Young Church-
man and the Shepherd’s Arms were dis-
continued. The circulation of the former
had dwindled over the years to about
8,000, and the new management group,
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faced with many other problems, could
not cope with the task of breathing new
life into the children’s periodicals.

Frederic Cook Morehouse

In the winter of 1884-5 a slight lad of 16
stood behind the counter of the store his
father had opened that morning in down-
town Milwaukee. “Well do I recall” he
later wrote, “the first sale — a copy of
Dr. Littledale’s Plain Reasons Against
Jvining the Church of Rome.” The lad
was Frederic Cook Morehouse, oldest son
of Linden, and without doubt one of the
mest remarkable laymen the American

“Church has produced.

If a single reason were to be assigned
today for the elder Morehouse’s decision
to give up the commission market busi-
ness and enter Church publishing, that
reason might well have been his desire to
devote his life to a work upon which his
son could build. The Young Churchman
was a successful sideline for a prosperous
businessman. But young Frederic had al-
ready shown signs of talents which needed
a wider and more intellectual area for
their exercise.

In constant ill health as a child, Fred
Morehouse had very little formal school-
ing. He attended the ungraded primary
school of All Saints’ Cathedral, and had
only two years of high school. Yet,
through parental guidance and the exer-
cise of a keen and inquiring mind, he

-became an acknowledged leader of the

thought of the Church and a universally
admired civic leader in Milwaukee.

Frederic Cook Morehouse was very
much involved in the Young Churchman
Company’s activities from the start. At
the age of 17, during the company’s first
year, he became editor of THE LiviNnG
GHURCH ANNUAL, which at that time pub-
lished a revised clergy list quarterly. THE
ANNUAL had been begun in 1882 by the
Rev. Dr. Charles W. Leffingwell of Chi-
cago, editor and proprietor of THE L1vING
CHurcH, and its purchase was the first
step in a gradual taking over of the pub-
lications of The Living Church Company
by the new Milwaukee firm. THE ANNUAL
is still published by the Morehouse-Bar-
low Co., under the name of the Episcopal
Church Annual, having at various times
absorbed other Church yearbooks from
other publishers. (The oldest, the Church-
man’s Almanac, carries the date of found-
ing of the authoritative yearbook of the
Episcopal Church all the way back to 1830
— 129 years.)

The first book published by the new
company turned out to be a best-seller. It
was Richard Wilde Little’s Reasons for
Being a Churchman, published on Decem-
ber 1, 1885. It continued in print up to
1935 and ran up a total sale of over
100,000 copies.

Various pamphlets were also issued in
the first year, but the company’s main
stock, besides its two children’s periodi-
cals, was the publications of other firms.

Continued on page 12
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BOOKS

Morehouse-Barlow not only
publishes its own books
(covering subjects from

doctrine to flower arranging),

but imports many from England

Morehouse-Barlow books have
played an important part in the
life of the Church at every level.

The present trade catalogue of
the company lists more than 500
books of all kinds as currently in
print and available to bookstores
and the Church public. Of these,
127 are general religious books pub-
lished by the company itself. The
others include textbooks, imported
books, and such special items as the
Episcopal Church Annual and the
Church School Hymnal.

The company’s early interest in
the work of liturgical reform and
enrichment was shown by its serv-
ing as the American publisher for
Percy Dearmer’s Parson’s Hand-
book Series. The Morehouse Pub-
lishing Company served hand in
hand with General Convention in
publishing the preliminary studies
that resulted in the 1928 Prayer
Book, the one currently in use. A
great furor arose a few years later
over the publication by the com-
pany of the American Missal, a
service book designed to provide a
norm for Anglo-Catholic additional
prayers and devotions at the Com-
munion service. This book, in-
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Morehouse-Barlow bookstore, New York: Present
trade catalogue lists more than 500 books of all
kinds which are in print and available to book-
stores and to the Church public.

tended to conform to the shape of
the Prayer Book rite and to dis-
courage Romanizing departures
from it, carried a statement from
the custodian of the Standard Pray-
er Book that the portions taken
from the Prayer Book were accu-
rate. The result was a storm of
protest resulting in the appoint-
ment of a new custodian and the
adoption of a canon forbidding the
binding up of Prayer Book material
with anything but such approved
matter as the Hymnal and the
Bible.

Currently the Morehouse-Barlow
list contains 19 books about the
liturgy, including one edition of
Dom Gregory Dix’s masterpiece,
The Shape of the Liturgy, along
with other scholarly works and such
down-to-earth volumes as Boss’ T he
Prayer Book Reason Why.

When the time came for a revi-
sion of the American Missal, the
company turned over its rights and
-plates to the Cowley Fathers, who
published it on their own.

In addition to Francis |. Hall’s
‘famous Theological Outlines, which
is still in print, Morehouse titles
of a former day include such im-
portant theological works as Barry’s
The Office and Work of the Holy
Spirit, Archbishop Temple's The
Centrality of Christ, Frank Gavin’s
Contemporary Orthodox Thought
and Liberal Catholicism in the
Modern World, and More and
Cross’s Anglicanism.

September 20, 1959

. History by Colopheons
from left: Young Churchman Co., used until 1918; Morehouse, 1931-33; Morehouse Publishing,

1934-37; Morehouse-Gorham Co., 1938-August, 1959; Morehouse-Barlow Co., August, 1959 —

Other important books, still in
print, include Gowen’s History of
Religion, Don Frank Fenn’s Parish
Administration, Atwater’s popular
The Episcopal Church: Its Mes-
sage for Men of Today (now in its
244th thousand), Bishop Huang’s
Now I Can Tell (translated into
many Oriental languages by the
U.S. Information Service for its rev-
elations of the nature of Chinese
Communism), Bishop Wilson’s The
Divine Commission, Faith and Prac-
tice, and Outline Series, and books
by such popular authors as Bishop
Pardue, Bishop Wand, Chad Walsh,
and Carroll E. Simcox. Ernest South-
cott’s The Parish Comes Alive and
James Pike’s Modern Canterbury
Pilgrims rank among the most-dis-
cussed books of recent years in
Church circles.

These are only random sam-
plings from a list that over the
years would run well up into the
thousands. The business of pub-
lishing consists of selecting manu-
scripts, preparing them for print-
ing, financing their production, and
then offering them for sale by ad-
vertising them and by placing them
in bookstores. Morehouse-Barlow
books are selected by a publication
committee that includes representa-
tives of the editorial, production,
and sales departments of the com-
pany, together with a clerical ad-
viser. After the book is printed and
bound, the real work of *“publish-
ing” begins — the offering of the
book to the public.

Reinlorcing the advertising and
direct mail announcements, More-
house-Barlow representatives visit
many bookstores around the coun-
try to show them the company’s new
publications. For its retail book
sales, the company prepares two
catalogues a year for spring and
Christmas, sending them to a list
of clergy and selected laypeople.
Likely manuscripts are brought to
the attention of the Religious Book

Club or the Episcopal Book Club
as possibilities for their clientele.
Church school catalogues issued
annually include a Fellowship Se-
ries prospectus and a gifts and
awards catalogue sent out at the
end of the Church school season.

From time to time a compre-
hensive general catalogue is issued.
One is being put out this year in
celebration of the company’s 75th
anniversary, replacing the general
catalogue of 1954.

The field of devotional manuals
and devotional reading has been a
specialty of the company ever since
the publication of God’s Board,
compiled by Frederic Cook More-
house in the 1890s and still in
print. Another long-time favorite
is Archibald Campbell Knowles’
Practice of Religion. The present
Trade Catalogue lists 14 devotional
manuals and 50 devotional books,
including many of the classics of
the spiritual life.

Furthering the present revival of
Church interest in spiritual heal-
ing, the company has recently pub-
lished several significant books in
this field, including Emily Gardiner
Neale’s 4 Reporter Finds God and
John Ellis Large’s T he Ministry of
Healing.

Morehouse editors are not in-
fallible. Sometimes they publish
books that won’t sell, and some-
times they turn down books that
will. The great boner of company
history was the rejection of C. S.
Lewis’s first successful religious
book, The Screwtape Letters. An-
other publisher took it, it became
a best-seller, and C. S. Lewis’s reli-
gious novels and essays have now
become among the best known of
present-day Anglican writings.

Nevertheless, in pursuing its goal
of providing “everything for the
Church,” the company has not neg-
lected its original task of publish-
ing books for the edification of
Churchpeople.
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Continued from page 10

The first advertisement in THE LiviNe
CHurcH, February 7, 1885, announced:

“Already a stock of books has been gath-
ered, comprising the best selections from the
catalogues of foreign publishers and also of
our own Church publishers, Dutton, Pott,
Young, and Whittaker.”

Bishop Stevens, biographer of Frederic
Cook Morehouse, says:

“His father’s special interest in Fred gave
him a liberal education which ill health had
denied him. Travel to New York with his

music teacher, is the mother of the only
fourth generation member of the family
currently employed in the company —
William Dean Randall. He is following
his grandfather’s footsteps in the Chicago
branch of Morehouse-Barlow.

Of the three daughters of the first
Linden Morehouse, the oldest still sur-
vives — Elizabeth Phelps Morehouse of
Milwaukee, Wis. She still recalls the first
store of the Young Churchman Company,
“a little box,” she says, in comparison to
the present commodious establishments in

© 1940, Morehouse-Gorham Co. (from Editor’s Quest)

A Morehouse family dinner (1903). The dinning rcom table had also been magazine mailing center.

father on business connected with the pub-
lishing company brought the young editor
into contact with such publishers as Edwin S.
Gorham, Dr. William Walter Smith, and
others. Thus was kindled in the boy the
spark of enthusiasm which spread into a
most brilliant flame.”

Linden Morehouse had two other sons
and three daughters. Howard, the second
son, was well on his way toward fulfilling
the family’s hopes for a son in the priest-
hood when he died of pneumonia in 1895
while attending the University of the
South, Sewanee, Tenn. The youngest son,
illiam Armitage Morehouse, ten years
younger than Frederic, entered the service
of the company upon his graduation from
high school in the 1890s and made a con-
tribution to the business side comparable
to his brother’s on the editorial and liter-
ary side. He served as secretary of the
corporation, kept the financial records,
and had oversight of the steadily growing
mail order business. Typhoid fever took
him suddenly in July, 1907, leaving his
young widow with a 7-year-old son. His
daughter was born in November, 1907.

William Armitage Morehouse’s legacy
to the company survives for the present
and the future. The son was Li 15
Morehouse II, the present president of
the Morehouse-Barlow Company. The
daughter, Ruth, the wife of Dean E.
Randall, Episcopal Church organist and
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New York, Chicago, and San Francisco.
During the peak shopping seasons she
used to help out in the store, her pay
being the thrill of a restaurant meal. Still
a communicant of All Saints’ Cathedral,
she vouches for the fact that the present
far-flung business enterprise is the out-
come of the life of prayer and sacrament
at All Saints’.

Background of the Period

In the 1890s there were a number of
publishing firms serving the Episcopal
Church, in addition to general publishers
maintaining a line of Church books.
James Pott & Co., Thomas Whittaker, and
Edwin S. Gorham, of New York; George
W. Jacobs of Philadelphia; and R. Allen
Lycett of Baltimore were among the bet-
ter known, but there were many publish-
ers in the field.

As early as 1895, however, a Church
editor of Utica, N. Y, described the
Young Churchman Company as “the larg-
est and best Church publishing company
in the United States.” The statement was
made in an announcement by the Rev.
W. T. Gibson that he was turning over
the Church Eclectic, a monthly journal of
opinion, to the 10-year-old midwestern
firm. Frederic Cook Morehouse, at 27,
became the editor.

In the meantime, Bishop Welles of
Milwaukee had died and had been re-

placed as president of the firm by his suc-
cessor, Bishop Knight. When Bishop
Knight died three years later in 1891, Lin-
den H. Morehouse became the president
and the relationship of the Wisconsin
bishops to the firm came to an end.

If the Young Churchman Company was
“the largest,” as Dr. Gibson asserted, it
was the largest in a field of small business
enterprises. The total capital stock was
$16,000, but of this only $10,000 appeared
to be actually issued. In those pre-income
tax days, the books of the corporation
were kept like a proprietorship. The mem-
bers of the family employed in the busi-
ness drew no salaries, but careful account
was kept of the bills for coal, groceries,
carriage rental, clothing, etc., paid by the
company on their behalf and the total
was deducted from corporate surplus at
the end of the year. The annual drawings
suggest a modest, but comfortable, mode
of living. Dividends were not declared.
Profits simply stayed in the business, being
reflected in an increase in inventory and
facilities.

During this period, the Young Church-
man Company was producing little in the
way of Sunday school materials except
for its two magazines. Other publishers
were producing - the Uniform Sunday
School Lessons used by 350,000 of the
Church’s 400,000 Sunday school children.

The leading Church paper of the period
was the Churchman, published in New
York. THE Livin¢ CHURCH, published in
Chicago by the Rev. Charles W. Leffing-
well, had not yet undergone the transfor-
mation that was to make it the most influ-
ential Church weekly.

But the Young Churchman Co. was
making its mark. Several of its books pub-
lished before 1900 are still in print. In
the realm of theology, the Theological
Outlines of Francis ]J. Hall remains as
one of the most authoritative concise ex-
positions of dogmatic theology available
to Anglicans. A little manual of devo-
tions at the Holy Communion, God's
Board was compiled by Frederic Cook
Morehouse and published anonymously
in 1898. Aware of the humdrum necessi-
ties of Church life as well as the intellec-
tual and spiritual rewards, the Young
Churchman Company took on the task of
producing the canonical parish register,
the marriage register, and similar record
books and forms, which still constitute
an important part of the service of the
Morehouse-Barlow Co.

The journals of early General Conven-
tions, reassembled and edited by Bishop
Perry of Iowa, former secretary of the
House of Deputies, were published under
the Young Churchman imprint.

A harbinger of things to come in the
form of instructional materials for the
young was a booklet entitled Church
Teaching for the Little Ones, by Emma
Anderson Tew. First published in 1887,
this little catechism remained in print for
70 years — until 1957.

The Living Church



NURTURE
FOR YOUNG CHURCHMEN

“’Source Method,”
’Christian Nurture,”

and "Church Fellowship” —
three Morehouse answers
to the Church’s

recurring

Sunday school crises

Today, the Morehouse-Barlow Company
holds a dominating position in the field
of producing Sunday school materials for
the Episcopal Church. According to its
own reckoning, some 215,000 pupils in
more than one-third of the Church’s Sun-
day schools used the company’s Episcopal
Church Fellowship series in the 1958-59
season. Independent investigation sug-
gests that these figures for pupils are con-
siderably lower than the actuality, because
of failure to include the re-use of materi-
als purchased in prior years.

Begun to carry forward the work of the
magazine published by a Sunday school
superintendent for his charges, the Young
Churchman Company was dedicated to
the service of the Church’s children from
its very inception. Until 1900, however,
the Young Churchman and the Shepherd's
Arms were much more important than the
instructional materials in the company’s
publishing schedule.

The turn of the century found the Epis-
copal Church in one of its periodic crises
about Sunday school materials. Many
years before, in 1826, a representative
group of bishops and General Convention
deputies had established a “General Prot-
estant Episcopal Sunday School Union”
to end the chaos of that period. Local
Sunday school societies (or rather, accord-
ing to the Rev. Oscar S. Michael,* ‘“asso-
ciations of societies,”) were producing
their own authoritative syllabi of Church
teaching according to the particular tradi-
tions of New York, Philadelphia, and
Charleston. A strong interdenominational
Sunday school union was providing ma-
terials outspokenly opposed to Anglican-
ism and in fact sometimes making Angli-
cans the villains of pious stories.

Though widely representative in mem-
bership, the General Protestant Episcopal
Sunday School Union was never made an
official arm of General Convention. It
functioned happily for a time until the
great period of high-Church low-Church
controversy in the wake of the Oxford
Movement. Then, feeling that the Sunday
School Union had been taken over by the
high Churchmen, evangelical groups be-
gan to create and use their own materials.

This began a second period of chaos,
ended at last in 1877 by the Joint Dioc-
esan Committees with their series of Uni-
form Sunday School Lessons.

*The Sunday School in the Development of thg
American Chyrch. Y. C., Co., 1804,
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Several publishers had editions of
their own of the Uniform Lessons, and
the Young Churchman included a weekly
Sunday school lesson based on the same
curriculum.

The Uniform Lessons were based on a
widely used interdenominational plan
of Bible-based “International Lessons,”
which was adapted by each Communion
for its specific needs.

After a quarter of a century, however,
the Uniform Sunday School Lessons were
losing some of their glamor. Not only the
changing emphases within the Church’s
life, but general pedagogical theories, and
the broad pattern of American culture
were changing.

In 1900 the Young Churchman Com-
pany was advertising a Sunday school
series beginning with Miss Tew’s cate-
chism for the younger children and going
on up through the grades with catecheti-
cal manuals most of which were written
by Miss L. L. Robinson. Other publishers
were offering other materials, and the
time was ripe for a new major series.

A New Moses of the Sunday School

The new Moses of the Sunday school
was the Rev. William Walter Smith, exec-
utive secretary of the New York diocesan
Sunday School Commission. Established
in 1898, the Commission developed a well-
articulated philosophy of the Sunday
school, a plan of organization for its own
and other interested dioceses, a program
of teacher recruitment and training and,
finally, a set of teaching materials. The
term, ‘‘commission,” instead of ‘“‘commit-
tee”” was the label under which Dr. Smith’s
new approach commended itself to the
dioceses. By 1904 there were more than
20 diocesan ‘‘commissions”’ taking their
inspiration from the New York group.

The Young Churchman Company was
prompt to recognize the significance of the
new movement. The company secured the
right to serve as publisher of the New
York Sunday School Commission Series,
and in 1902 published the first materials.

The production of a major Sunday
school series is an expemsive matter, Be-
fore the first sale is made, books must be
written, pictures must be painted and

Winard Kugore

Episcopal Church Fellowship Series
in action [at Christ Church, Austin, Minn.]:
The company, dedicated from its inception to
service of the Church’s children, is a leader
in the Church’s Sunday school material field.

drawn, and all the complicated processes
of printing and binding must be com-
pleted and paid for. Then, after the
material is sold, thousands of dollars re-
main tied up in accounts receivable until
the customers pay their bills.

The $16,000 of initial capital of the
company had been substantially aug-
mented by the practice of leaving the
profits in the business in a surplus ac-
count, but it was plain that further capital
would be needed. In 1903, a $35,000
bond issue was offered to the Church pub-
lic, secured by the assets of the company,
which amounted to some $125,000. The
announced purpose was the purchase of
printing presses. The company had had
its own composing room for years, but
now with a string of periodicals having
a total circulation of about 100,000 and
the prospect of a steady volume of Sunday
school materials in addition to its books
and other publications, it was ready to
expand its mechanical department.

At this time, the periodical publications
of the company were' described as “the
foundation of its business.” Besides the
two children’s magazines, these included
THE Livine CHURCH ANNUAL, THE LiviNG
CHurcH (weekly), which had been pur-
chased in 1900, and the Evening Prayer
Leaflet, a weekly service bulletin pur-
chased from Dr. Leffingwell at the same
time as the ANNUAL. The purchase of
THE LiviNe CHURCH was described as
“the greatest act of expansion of the
Young Churchman Company,” in a
Livine CHURCH editorial of April 18, 1903.
But, in view of later developments, the
tie with the New York Sunday School
Commission had an equally profound
effect upon the company’s development.

The new courses were known as the
“Source Method.” By 1909, there were 25
textbooks and 12 teacher’s manuals in
use, all published by the Young Church-
man Company for the Sunday School
Commission of the diocese of New York.
The Company on its 25th anniversary was
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well launched into the textbook field.

As has been the case ever since, the com-
pany was in competition with itself in
this field. The catechetical series founded
on Miss Tew’s Church Teaching for the
Little Ones consisted of 22 textbooks, of
which the most advanced was Dr. F. C.
Ewer’s Grammar of Theology, “‘an intel-
léctual preparation for Holy Confirma-
tior1 and a handbook for all Churchmen.”
. There were also source-method courses
approved by other diocesan commissions.
One of these, Lefferd M. A. Haughwout's
Ways and Teachings of the Church, has
developed an independent life of its own
as a general book and continues in print
today.

At this time, Sunday school award pins
appeared for the first time in the com-
pany’s advertisements. Some were stars
and some were crosses, in sterling silver,
gold plate, and gold. The stars were avail-
able plain or with “Episcopal S.S.” or
“Mission S.S.” or any of 19 common
Church dedications: St. James, St. John,
Christ, St. Paul, Grace, Trinity, St. David
(for the Welsh trade?), St. Peter, St. Ann,
St. George, St. Luke, Advent, Calvary,
St. Mark, St. Philip, St. Andrew, St. Mary,
St. Thomas, and St. Barnabas.

From this small beginning developed
a branch of the company’s service — eccle-
siastical jewelry — that occupies 15 pages
in its 1959 spring catalogue.

In 1909, the Uniform Series of the Joint
Diocesan Committees was still powerful
and still claiming the support of the ma-
jority of dioceses and parishes. Based on
Philadelphia as the Source Method Series
was based on New York, it was published
at this time by George W. Jacobs and was
later carried on by his son Howard Jacobs
for many years, finally being discontinued
in the 1940s.

With its books, periodicals, and Sunday
school materials, together with its grow-
ing line of Church supplies, the Young
Churchman Company was a well known
institution in the east as well as the mid-
west. On its 25th anniversary, the com-
pany had total assets of $199,000. Bills
and accounts payable amounted to about
$19,000, bonds still to be retired were
$28,000, and the capital stock amounted
to $16,000. The earnings of the company
since its inception — some $136,000, on
which no dividend had ever been de-
clared — made up the difference.

From this extensive business, the 1909
profit was $2,744. While some lineS' were
profitable, others were not, and< THE
Livine CHURCH lost $1,195 that year, not
counting overhead or the editor’s salary.

A New President

Death came to Linden H. Morehouse
on July 15, 1915 — “the kindliest old gen-
tleman that ever lived,” according to those
who knew him. His brilliant and ener-
getic son, Frederic, now became president
of the company. He was already well
known as editor of THE LivING CHURCH
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and one of the most prominent lay dep-
uties to General Convention.

If the Young Churchman was the great
interest of his father’s life, THE LiviNe
CHURCH was the great interest of the son.
Utterly frank and straightforward in his
approach to all things, gifted with a wit
that could sometimes hurt, exacting in his
demands upon himself and upon those
in whom he reposed confidence, Frederic
Cook Morehouse was a man of many in-
terests and a leader in any activity he
undertook. Although the circulation of
THE Livine CHURCH under his editorship
was never large, the magazine became
a powerful influence in Church affairs.
What was proposed in its columns was
fought for by the editor in the councils
of the Church; and frequently his publish-
ing company took on the task of imple-
menting the magazine’s proposals by pro-
viding the tools for the job.

Following spiritually in his father’s foot-

CHOIR AND SUNDAY SCHOOL
REWARDS
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From a small beginning with Sunday school award
pins [cut shows L.C. Annual ad, 1908], the compa-
ny’s sizeable ecclesiastical jewelry business grew.

steps, Frederic Cook Morehouse was a
devoted communicant of All Saints’ Ca-
thedral, and a member of its governing
body, the chapter. His list of Church
activities would cover*almost .every sub-
ject of interest to the Church in his day,
but. that these did not take up all his
energies is shown by the fact that he took
on the presidency of. the City Club of Mil-
waukee and turned it from a feeble organ-
ization into a powerful organ of civic
betterment. At one time, his name led a
straw poll conducted by the Milwaukee
Journdl to ascertain the popular choice
for mayor of Milwaukee, but he refused
to run for the office.

Among all thése interests, although the
work of Christian education was one of
his concerns, it was by no means central.

Many editorials in THE LivIN¢ CHURCH
of 1910 were devoted to discussion of the
name of the Church; several to the pro-
posal for the election of suffragan bishops;
several to the advocacy of a national Com-
mission on Social Service; but there was
only a brief editorial note approving the
Convention’s action in appointing a Gen-
eral Board of Religious Education that
year.

Apparently the subject of the General
Board was not controversial. Sixty years
earlier, General Convention had refused
to establish such an official agency. But
by 1910, it was widely understood that the
rector of each parish was the man in
charge of Christian education and that
any national body, official or otherwise,
existed merely to assist him in his work.

In 1910, the Young Churchman Com-
pany advertised that it was publishing
85 different textbooks for pupils or teach-
ers, “besides carrying in stock the publi-
cations of other Church firms.” “You
don’t need to write your own text book,”
the advertisement plaintively admonished.
“Somebody else has already embodied
your ideas in print.”

But only six years later, yet one more
new idea began to be embodied in print,
and the Young Churchman Company was
the publisher. The General Board of Re-
ligious Education, under the leadership
of the Rev. Dr. William E. Gardner, began
to develop the Christian Nurture Series,
the first Sunday school lessons carrying
the imprimatur of an official Episcopal
Church body.

Education Experiment

Many of the details of the Church'’s first
great experiment in Christian education
sound very much like the movement of
the 1940s that resulted in the Seabury
Series. The new General Board promptly
expanded out of the space assigned to it
in Church Missions House and rented
quarters of its own. It set up Depart-
ments of Parochial Education, Secondary
Education, Collegiate Education, and
Theological Education. It freely claimed
the guidance of the Holy Spirit in the
production of its materials.

According to Edward Sargent, writing
in The Leader in Religious Education for
April, 1924, the first Christian Nurture
Series courses were originally published
“for trial use in the hope that the experi-
ence of teachers, through the leading of
the Holy Spirit, may consistently enrich
and improve the course.” He continued:

“The success of these first mimeographed
lessons and courses resulted in a demand for
the publishing of text books. The proposi-
tion was offered to many publishers, but the
difficulties were enormous, and it was not
until the year 1917, through the cobperation
of the Morehouse Publishing Company, that
it was possible to issue them in printed form.”

Actually, the first courses published
under the imprint of the Young Church-
man Company (its change of name was
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still to come) came out in 1916. The agree-
ment was, like all the agreements of
Frederic Morehouse’s business career, not
a formal contract but a simple exchange
of letters without whereases or parties of
the first and second part.

The ‘Hard Sell”

The eagerness of the Church for a new,
official (or at least semi-official) Sunday
school curriculum had apparently been
underestimated not only by the publishers
who refused to put it out but also by
the publisher who took it on. Early in
1917, the Young Churchman Company an-
nounced that the Christian Nurture ma-
terials were

“ordered on so large a scale that editions
were rapidly exhausted and considerable de-
lays ensued in supplying material. This was
due to the fact that the demand greatly ex-
ceeded anticipation, and since, naturally, all
the schools opened for fall sessions at approx-

courses of other publishers had a tremen-
dous impact on the Episcopal Church
which was mirrored in its impact on the
publisher.

In 1918, new articles of incorporation
were adopted, changing the name of the
company to the Morehouse Publishing
Company. After the death of the founder,
in 1915, participation in the ownership
had devolved to heirs of whom some were
employed in the company and some were
not. A dividend of $5.00 per year per share
had been voted, which amounted to a dis-
tribution of $1,600 per year to owners (all
members of the Morehouse family) whose
investment in the company by now
amounted to something like $150,000. In
the 1918 reorganization, four shares were
issued to replace each share previously
held, giving the capital stock a nominal
value of $64,000; certain bonds held by
family members, the last of the 1903 issue,
were converted into stock, and another

Frederic Cook Morehouse (1903): Under his editorship, The Living Church became a powerful influence.

imately the same time, the orders were re-
ceived faster than the materials could be
reprinted.”

The company’s first announcement of
materials for fall, 1916, had said:

“Their publication is a notable landmark
in the educational work of the Church and
every intelligent Churchman should write for
the circular and subscribe for the publica-
tions.”

The February announcement, covering
materials for the second half of the year,
was less characterized by the “hard sell.”
It said:

“Send for circulars and order blank if
you are interested.”

This new contender for popularity
among the 85 courses of the Youmg
Churchman Company and the mamy
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$1,000 was sold at par, raising the total
par value of the stock to $75,000.

Invitation to Investment

Three years later, it was plain that ad-
ditional capital was needed to finance the
greatly increased inventory and accounts
receivable that resulted from the success
of the Christian Nurture Series. For the
first time, the Church public was invited
to invest in preferred stock of the More-
house Publishing Company. The offering
was $25,000 at 89, but at that time the
intention was to retire the preferred stock
in 10 years — an intention never fulfilled.

Changing conditions had radically
changed the position of the periodicals in
the business. The stock prospectus said:

“The book publications are the mainstay
‘of the business. . . . Weekly papers now main-

tained — THE LivIN¢ CHURCH, the Young
Churchman, the Shepherd’s Arms, and the
Evening Prayer Leaflet, together with THE
Livine CHURCH ANNUAL — . . .. do not pro-
duce appreciable profits, but are large factors
in attracting book purchasers to the house. . ..

“The past few years have witnessed a large
cxpansion in the sales of the company, espe-
cially in supplies for Sunday schools. It is
estimated that at least eighty per cent of
Episcopal Churches and Sunday schools in
the United States obtain their supplies direct-
ly from this Company.”

It was indicated that the company nor-
mally borrowed about $50,000 per year in
unsecured bank loans to meet seasonal re-
quirements for cash.

A new personality was making itself
felt in the company. The prospectus said:

“The president believes that in the event,
of his death the business would continue to
be carried on safely without interruption, his
nephew, Linden H. Morehouse, with several
trusted employees of long standing, being
competent to administer it.”

(The president’s son, Clifford P. More-
house, was a 16-year-old student in high
schoo! at this date, and Linden More-
house II, four years his senior, was secre-
tary-treasurer of the corporation. Vice
president was Lilias Morehouse Farrar,
Frederic Cook Morehouse’s daughter.)

The Child at the Center

It is estimated that the high-water mark
of the Christian Nurture Series was 559,
of the pupils in Episcopal Church Sunday
schools. Reminiscent of the ideals of a
later development were its announced
principles:

“First, it believes in putting the child in
the center; in other words, it recognizes the
law of growth as the highest consideration.
The plan of teaching is determined more by
the kind of material capable of feeding the
child’s spiritual life than by the desire to
have certain subjects studied. Secondly, the
Christian Nurture series recognizes a training
in religion which is more than mere teaching.
This training includes, but does not end with,
instruction in truth. There must be a de-
velopment of loyalty to the Church, a fos-
tering of inner spiritual life, and a constant
practice in Christian helpfulness. . . . “The
young Christian is helped to give expression
to His Christianity as he studies it.’”

Also characteristic of a later day were
the complaints against the series, which
were made from many quarters. It ex-
pected far more parental cobperation
than was reasonably possible. It demanded
far too much in the way of preparation
from the teacher. It could only be used
by professional teachers. It was suited
only to the needs of a large church with
a paid Christian education worker.” The
materials cost too much — or so it was
said.

But the Morehouse Publishing Com-
pany cheerfully sold other materidls fo its
customers among the 459, who did: not
care for Christian Nurture.

In the period 1923 to 1925, a revision
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of the Christian Nurture Series was car-
ried out, and the series continued to be
widely used throughout the 1920s. After
12 years’ service to the national Church,
Dr. Gardner returned to parish life in
1924. His successors in what was now the
Department of Christian Education of the
National Council did not follow through
on the work of periodic revision.

In the mid-1930s the Church began to
feel the depression pinch, and Christian
education seemed a better place for
budget-cutting than missions. The de-
clining birthrate began to have an im-
pact on the Sunday school. Enrollment
dropped from 510,000 in 1934 to 388,000
in 1944.

The death of Fredexic Cook Morehouse
in 1932, in the darkest days of the depres-
sion, was a severe blow to the company
as well as to the Church. With his quick
miund and powerful personality, he had
¥ always been the maker of company poli-
cits and decisions. His chief assistant on
the administrative side, Linden H. More-
house now became the president at the
age of 32, while his son and chief assistant
on TuE Livine CHURcH, Clifford P. More-
house, became the editor of THE LiviNe
CHURCH at the age of 28.

A final revision of the Christian Nur-
+ ture Series was carried through in 1936
iunder the auspices of the Department of
‘Christian Education, which was still re-
ceiving a royalty of 109, on every teacher’s
manual sold. But the momentum had
evaporated from the series — indeed, from
the whole Sunday school enterprise —
and the new revision worked no miracles.

A long Time to Die

It takes old Sunday school materials a
long time to die. The Joint Diocesan
Series was still being published in 1936.
The date of the last sale of Christian Nur-
ture material was 1958.

But through the late 1930s and early
1940s, many new series, most of them
under individual auspices, were being
tried and found wanting. Other publish-
ers brought out the Cloister Series and the
St. James Series. (Both continue to be
sold today — Cloister by the Morehouse-
Barlow Co., Inc., and St. James by a cor-
poration with a mysterious relationship ta
Seabury Press.) Morehouse brought out
two different series in 1933 — the Chris-
tian Living Series by Lala and Leon C.
Palmer, and the Pastoral Series by the
Rev. Robert S. Chalmers. The latter is still
being sold. Its catechetical method and un-
graded plan are particularly adapted to
the small, impoverished parish or mission.

During the 1930s and 40s many things
happened to the Morehouse Publishing
Company that had little relation to the
Sunday school. The story of the com-
pany’s development of that time and of
the men who guided it — and still guide
it today — will be covered in another
section of this report. Here, it seems best
to continue with Christian education,
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The end of the Christian Nurture era
was 1941. In that year, the national De-
partment of Christian Education gave up
its rights in the Christian Nurture Series
and, in effect, bowed out of the field of
producing an officially sponsored Sunday
school curriculum. One year later, the
Department was reduced to the status of
a division of the Home Department, a
step which seemed logical to everybody.
From time to time it issued cheerful little
bulletins about how well everything was
going in Christian education.

Morehouse-Gorham Company. (The new
name was the result of the absorption of
the bookstore and publishing enterprise
started by Edwin S. Gorham in New York
about the turn of the century.) However,
the officers of the company were deter-
mined not to stand in the way of the
Department’s plans.

The company had been working on a
full-scale rewriting and modernizing of
the Christian Nurture Series and had
gathered together manuscripts and illus-
trations for a new “Fellowship Series” at
a direct outlay of about $18,000. This
material was offered to the national De-
partment of Christian Education at cost,
for such use as it might care to make of
the material in developing its own courses.
The offer was politely but firmly turned
down by Bishop Whittemore on behalf of
the Department in 1948. Two years later,
the company wrote off its entire invest-
ment in the Fellowship Series.

Groundswell of Dissatisfaction

But a groundswell of dissatisfaction
with the situation was building up, and
by 1946 the Church was up in arms over
the inadequacy of materials, methods, and
philosophy for the needs of the day. Bish-
op Whittemore made an historic address
to his diocesan convention about the neu-
rotic indecision that confronted the
Church on the national scene. “We are
not only accepting religious illiteracy for
our children,” he said, “we have at the
present time no serious intention of doing
anything about it. By and large, our Sun-
day schools are a disgrace.”

The story of the Church’s response to
the demand for a revitalization of its edu-
cational program has been told elsewhere.
The Department of Christian Education
was revived under the inspired direction of
the Rev. John Heuss, its personnel greatly
increased; it again outgrew its quarters in
Church Missions House and moved to
Greenwich, Conn. It developed the books
of the Church’s Teaching Series to show
that the Episcopal Church really did have
something definite to teach to its mem-
bers, adults and children, and it began to
work on the development of new Sunday
school materials.

A part of the new Christian educauon
plan was to establish an official Church
publishing house, following the pattern
of many of the major Protestant denomi-
nations, and to use that house as the pro-
ducer of the new curriculum materials.

This phase of the program was a matter
of intense interest and anxiety to the

Toward Revolution at Glacial Speed

Time went by, however, and the De-
partment’s new material for the Sun-
day school still appeared to be a long
way from publication. The Department
seemed to be moving — at glacial speed —
toward a revolution in the Sunday school
that could be effective only in parishes
which undertook a substantial reorienta-
tion and reorganization of their lives;
and such a program seemed to leave a
great deal of both time and space for
another up-to-date series.

Accordingly, the decision was made to

produce the Episcopal Church Fellowship
Series, leaving to the future the question
of its fate after the Department’s own
courses were published.
/ “In 1952, the Morehouse-Gorham Com-
pany was no longer a one-man enterprise.
The top management group consisted of
Linden H. Morehouse, president; Clifford
P. Morehouse, vice president, and Harold
C. Barlow, treasurer and sales manager.
In this, as in all major decisions of the
company in recent years, all three were
involved.

The new series had to be a good one.
The prospects ranged from modest success
to possible disaster. Against these pros-
— pects had to be placed the still unmet need
of the parishes for good educational materi-
als. The company also had to consider its
own future in competition with a Church-
owned firm under aggressive management
which would compete not only in the
realm of Sunday school materials but per-
haps in many other lines as well. Now or
never was the time for the company to
prove its ability to meet the needs of the
Church.

A group of Morehouse employees and
outside experts was drawn together in an
all-day conference in New York—the first
of a series of such conferences which have
continued to meet annually in succeeding
years. The personnel has included bishops
and parish priests, laypeople versed in re-
ligious education, writers to whom course
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material was assigned, and representatives
of those who would have to use the ma-
terial in the parish setting.

At this first conference, held at St. Bar-
tholomew’s, New York, July 9, 1952, the
revised Christian Nurture material was
gone over thoroughly and most of it was
discarded. Plans were laid for teacher’s
and pupil’s books which would make use
of the newest insights in Christian edu-
cation and would yet provide a definite
body of content to be mastered week by
week.

The first two courses were published in
1953 and were enthusiastically welcomed
by the parishes. Three more were added
the following year, and by 1955, the year
when the first three Seabury Series courses
came out, there were seven Episcopal Fel-
lowship Series courses.

Seabury vs. ECFS

As of 1959, both series offer a virtually
complete Sunday school curriculum from
nursery on up into high school. In addi-
tion, both are vigorously involved in the
vacation Church school area. Competition
is keen between the advocates of the two
series.

As of today, the original head-start
of the Fellowship Series is not the basis of
its continued popularity. The character
of the materials themselves is the explana-
tion. They meet the demand of many par-
ishes, clergy, and teachers for a definite
body of subject matter, arranged accord-
ing to a weekly lesson plan. The Seabury
concept of providing the teacher with
guidance for developing his or her own
weekly lesson based on the current con-
cerns of church and community and
family, the Department of Christian Edu-
cation’s insistence on the development of
the concerned group of parents and teach-
ers within the parish family, and other
“musts” of the Seabury approach may well
aim at a higher and ultimately a more
practical educational goal, but they leave
ample room for a series based on the cur-
rent state of things in the average parish.

Revision Program

The process of revising and evaluating
goes on steadily in the Episcopal Church
Fellowship Series as well as in the Seabury
Series. The annual Fellowship Series con-
ference has become a two-day or three-day
affair. It has moved out to the pleasant
environs of the Episcopal Center, West
Cornwall, Conn., and combines its serious
educational work with recreation and fel-
lowship. This year, in addition to three
new courses in the nursery, high school,
and vacation areas, the first revised course
is being offered as part of a “program of
thorough revision.”

As of 1959, the publishers claim that
“the Episcopal Church Fellowship Series
has grown to be the most popular and
widely used curriculum in the Church.”
The decision that was made in 1952 led
to a success beyond the dreams of those
who made it.
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